
From: Bloomsbury Association  
Sent: 11 October 2023 15:28 
To: Planning 
Cc: David Fowler; Chair Association  
Subject: APPLICATION FOR PLANNING PERMISSION 2023/2510/P & 
2023/2653/L - 1 MUSEUM STREET 
 
SELKIRK HOUSE, 166 HIGH HOLBORN, 1 MUSEUM STREET, 10-12 MUSEUM 
STREET, 35-41 NEW OXFORD STREET & 16A-18 WESTCENTRAL STREET 
LONDON WCiA 1JR 
 
Proposal:  
Redevelopment of Selkirk House, 166 High Holborn and 1 Museum Street 
following the substantial demolition of the existing NCP car park and 
former Travelodge Hotel to provide a mixed-use scheme, providing office, 
residential, and town centre uses at ground floor level. Works of part-
demolition and refurbishment to 10-12 Museum Street, 35-41 New Oxford 
Street, and 16A-18 West Central Street to provide further town centre ground 
floor uses and residential floorspace, including affordable housing provision. 
Provision of new public realm including a new pedestrian route through the 
site to link West Central Street with High Holborn. Relocation of cycle hire 
docking stations on High Holborn. 
 
Application for planning permission reference: 2023/2510/P 
Application for listed building consent: 2023/2653/L 
 
 
The Save Museum Street group's comments on these applications are being 
submitted incrementally as attached. 
 
Stephen Heath 
On behalf of the Bloomsbury Association 
 
 
Save Museum Street is led by a community coalition including: 
Bloomsbury Residents’ Action Group, Bloomsbury Association, Camden 
Climate Emergency, Charlotte Street Association, Covent Garden Community 
Association, Covent Garden Area Trust, Drury Lane Residents Association, 
Dudley Court Tenants’ Association, Goldsmith Court, Grape Street Residents, 
Leicester Square Association, Red Lion Residents Association, Rugby & Harpur 



Residents Association, Seven Dials Trust, South Bloomsbury Tenants and 
Residents’ Association, Tavistock Chambers Tenants’ Association, The Bedford 
Estates, The Soho Society, West Central Street Residents and Willoughby Street 
Residents 
 
5 Willoughby Street, London WC1A 1JD 
 
 
 

 



 

 

 

 

5 Willoughby Street, London WC1A 1JD  

 

1 MUSEUM STREET, LONDON WC1A 1JR 

Application for planning permission: 2023/2510/P and 
Application for listed building consent: 2023/2653/L 

Save Museum Street, which comprises the organisations listed below, objects to these applications.  Our concerns 
are set out in the following sections, which will be submitted individually, as will the documents shown in the list of 
supplementary documents. A composite document will follow. 

 Section name Attached 
1 Sustainability, environmental, climate emergency ● 
2 Housing ● 
3 Townscape and visual impact  
4 Heritage impact ● 
5 Design quality  
6 Community engagement ● 
7 Daylight and sunlight  ● 
8 Open space and public realm ● 
9 Basement impact ● 
10 Transport, access and servicing ● 
11 Construction management and noise ● 
12 Hotel use ● 
13 Phasing and financial appraisal ● 
14 Health impact  ● 
15 Policy non-compliance / information required  
 
List of supplementary documents 
 Document name Attached 
1 Alternative Approach  
2 The Carbon Case for Retention and Retrofit 1 by Targeting Zero, dated 15 March 2023 ●  
3 The Carbon Case for Retention and Retrofit 2 by Targeting Zero, dated 5 July 2023 ●  
4 The Carbon Case for Retention and Retrofit 3 by Targeting Zero, dated 5 September 2023 ●  
5 Heritage Statement by Peter De Figueiredo ●  
6 Historic Assessment  - ‘Heavy Going: A study of the history, building typology and 

conservation of Working Horse Stables’ by Shannon Edwards, University of York 
●  

7 Statement from Dr Geoffrey Tyack FSA, FRHistS, Kellogg College, University of Oxford ●  
8 Daylight and Sunlight Report by Right of Light Consulting ●  
9 E-mail from Regional Manager, Travelodge, dated 28 March 2023 ●  
10 E-mail from Camden Conservation Officer, dated 18 August 2023 ●  
11 E-mail from Chief Executive, Historic England, dated 7 September 2023 ●  
 
 
Save Museum Street Campaign: led by a community coalition including: 
Bloomsbury Residents’ Action Group 
Bloomsbury Association 
Camden Climate Emergency 
Charlotte Street Association 
Covent Garden Community Association 
Covent Garden Area Trust 
Drury Lane Residents Association 
Dudley Court Tenants’ Association 
Goldsmith Court 
Grape Street Residents 

Leicester Square Association 
Red Lion Residents Association 
Rugby & Harpur Residents Association 
Seven Dials Trust 
South Bloomsbury Tenants and Residents’ Association 
Tavistock Chambers Tenants’ Association 
The Bedford Estates 
The Soho Society 
West Central Street Residents 
Willoughby Street Residents 

 



POLICY NON-COMPLIANCE 
 
A summary of the major policy failures of this proposal which are more fully detailed 
elsewhere in this document 
 
15.1 NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK  
 
15.1.1 Chapter 2 Achieving Sustainable Development Paragraph 8 - protect and 
enhance our historic environment; make effective use of land; protect biodiversity; reduce 
C0² emissions by retrofitting rather than redevelopment.  - FAILS to comply 
 
15.1.2 Chapter 16 Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment Paragraphs 
199, 200, 201 and 202 – weight to be given to conservation; harm to the significance and setting 
of listed buildings and to the character of the Bloomsbury Conservation Area. To comply, it 
must be shown that the substantial harm is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits 
that outweigh that harm, or that four additional tests concerning the use of the site or 
charitable ownership are not otherwise achievable. These have not been provided. Even if 
the scheme is considered to cause less than substantial harm, the compelling evidence 
presented by SMS and others demonstrates that the public benefits of the proposal would 
not outweigh that harm. FAILS to comply 
 
15.1.3 Chapter 8, Paragraph 98 - providing adequate open space - FAILS to comply 
 
15.1.4 Chapter 14, Paragraph 152 - strong presumption in favour of repurposing and 
reusing buildings; support the transition to a low carbon future; radical reductions in 
greenhouse gas emissions; reuse of existing resources, including the conversion of existing 
buildings.’ - FAILS to comply 
 
 
15.2 GREATER LONDON ASSEMBLY: THE GREATER LONDON PLAN 2021 
 
15.2.1 Policy SI2, Minimising Greenhouse Gas Emissions, Item 3.3, Table 2 - Before 
embarking on the design of a new structure or building, the retrofit or reuse of any existing 
built structures, in part or as a whole, should be a priority consideration as this is typically the 
lowest carbon option. Significant retention and reuse of structures also reduces construction 
costs and can contribute to a smoother planning process - FAILS to comply 
 
15.2.3 Policy D3 - enhance local context by delivering buildings and spaces that positively 
respond to local distinctiveness, provide active frontages, deliver appropriate outlook, 
privacy and amenity, or provide conveniently located green and open spaces for social 
interaction, play, relaxation and physical activity - FAILS to comply 
 
15.2.4 Policy D4 F 1 – no consistency in design.  Abrupt change July 2022, in response to 
public outcry as to its height.  Height reduced; bulk increased dramatically to maintain floor 
area.  Abrupt change June 2023 when 5 buildings on site listed.  In each case the design 
solutions have been reactive, with the aim of propping up a failed scheme. FAILS to comply 
 
15.2.5 Policy D6 Housing quality and standards – housing should be high-quality; 
maximise dual aspect dwellings; sufficient daylight and sunlight; provision of private outside 
space; provision of communal open space and children’s play space.  - FAILS to comply 
 
15.2.6 Policy D9 Tall Buildings – location; engagement with neighbouring boroughs, visual 
impact; heritage impact; service management; environmental impact; cumulative impact; 
public access.  - FAILS to comply  



Additionally, no evidence presented to justify increase in height and footprint of Selkirk 
House which will be harmful to heritage assets; failure to demonstrate that alternatives have 
been explored and considered - FAILS to comply 
 
15.2.7 Chapter 7 Heritage HC1 - Heritage assets and their settings should be conserved, 
enhanced and integrated into the design of new development. They should contribute to the 
sense of place and make a specific contribution to placemaking and regeneration - FAILS to 
comply 
 
15.2.8 Chapter 8 Green Infrastructure - Policy G4 B Open Space - promote creation of 
new areas of publicly-accessible open space; ensure that open space, particularly green 
space, included as part of development remains publicly accessible; Development proposals 
should:1) not result in the loss of protected open space, 2) where possible create areas of 
publicly accessible open space, particularly in areas of deficiency - FAILS to comply 
B Development proposals should: 
15.2.9 Play Supplementary Planning Guidance para 2.2.16 – new housing development 
that ‘generates’ more than 10 children must provide suitable play space 
GLA Policy S4 - 10 sqm play area per child – FAILS to comply open space, particularly in 

areas of deficiency. 
15.2.10 Policy GG1 - early and inclusive engagement with stakeholders, including local 
communities, in the development of proposals, policies and area-based strategies. FAILS to 
comply 
 
15.2.11 Policy HC1 Heritage Conservation and Growth FAILS to comply as it would 
cause harm to the significance and setting of heritage assets. 
 
15.2.12 Policy HC4 Strategic and Local Views FAILS to comply in the case of LVMF 
strategic views 18B.2, which would be impacted, and there are several local views where the 
increased height of Selkirk House would cause harm. 
 
15.2.13 Policy G5 Urban Greening - major development proposals should……..[include] 
urban greening as a fundamental element of site and building design - FAILS to comply  
 
15.2.14 Policy G7 B C Trees and Woodland - development proposals should ensure that, 
wherever possible, existing trees of value are retained – 10 trees are to be removed of which 
two are of particular high quality, being substantial (50+ years), prominent and in good 
condition, only to facilitate the demolition of the existing building - FAILS to comply 
 
15.2.15 Policy SI2 requires, ‘retrofit or reuse prioritised and should be considered before 
new build’ - FAILS to comply 
 
15.2.16 Policy SI7 states ‘retaining existing built structures totally or partially should be 
prioritised before considering substantial demolition..’  FAILS to comply 
 
15.2.17 Policy S4 Play and Informal Recreation – FAILS to comply 
 
15.2.18 Policy T7 Deliveries, servicing and construction – proposed delivery facilities do 
not have capacity to handle the number of deliveries that will be generated this will have a 
significant negative impact on the surrounding area with congestion and lorries idling - 
FAILS to comply 
 
15.2.19 GLA Housing Design Standards, Policies A1.4, A1.7, A1.8, B9.5, C4.2, C10.1– 
Height and massing; optimising orientation; maximising daylight; utilising and controlling 
solar gain; impact of new development on the level of daylight and sunlight received by the 
existing residents in surrounding homes; maximise the quality and availability of daylight and 



sunlight in communal outside spaces - spaces designed for frequent use (including sitting 
and play spaces) [should] receive direct sunlight through the day; amount of private outside 
space; - FAILS to comply 

15.2.20 The GLA’s Housing Supplementary Planning policy (see 3.4.2) – protection for 
HMOs - FAILS to comply 

 

15.3 CAMDEN LOCAL PLAN  
 
15.3.1 Policy CC1 Climate Change Mitigation – requires developers to demonstrate that it 
is not possible to retain and improve the existing building - FAILS to comply. 
 
15.3.2 Policy D1 Design requires that development respects local context and character; 
preserves or enhances the historic environment and heritage assets - FAILS to comply 
 
15.3.3 Policy D1(f) Street Frontages and Legibility in para 7.11 - building facades should 
be designed to provide active frontages and respond positively to the street - FAILS to 
comply 

15.3.4 Policy D1 Tall buildings policy - relationship to surroundings (streetscape and 
skyline; historic context of surroundings; relationship between the building and views; degree 
to which the building overshadows public spaces - FAILS to comply  
 
15.3.5 Policy D2 Heritage - sustainable in design and construction; best practice in 
resource management and climate change mitigation and adaptation; comprises details and 
materials that are of high quality and complement the local character; and integrates well 
with the surrounding streets and open spaces - FAILS to comply 
 
15.3.6 Policy D2 Heritage – FAILS to comply as there will be substantial harm to a 
designated heritage asset, including conservation areas and Listed Buildings; the SMS 
representation, demonstrates that the harm that would be caused by the proposed scheme 
is not justified, nor outweighed by any public benefits.  
 
15.3.7 Policy D2 Heritage para 7.49 Demolition in conservation areas - general 
presumption in favour of retaining buildings that make a positive contribution to the character 
or appearance of a conservation area, listed or not, to preserve character and appearance. 
The Council will resist the total or substantial demolition of buildings which make a positive 
contribution to a conservation area unless circumstances are shown that outweigh the case 
for retention - FAILS to comply 
 
15.3.8 Camden Supplementary Planning Document: Design (SPD) 
This document is an additional “material consideration” in planning decisions. 
 
The development FAILS to comply with the SPG in the following respects: 
 

a. Demolition in conservation areas - the Council will not normally allow 
demolition of a building in a conservation area without substantial justification, 
in accordance with NPPF paragraphs 195-196 and 201.  

 
b. Alterations to listed buildings - statutory duty to have special regard to the 

desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses; impact of proposals on 
the historic significance of the building, including its features, such as original 



and historic materials and architectural features; original layout of rooms; 
structural integrity; and character and appearance  

 
c. Preventing harm to heritage assets - Council will not permit development 

that results in harm that is less than substantial to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset unless the benefits of the proposal outweigh that 
harm. 

 
d. Consideration of cumulative impact - The Council will, in addition to 

considering proposals on an individual basis, also consider whether changes 
could cumulatively cause harm to the overall heritage value and/or integrity 
of the relevant Conservation Area, Listed building or heritage asset. 

 
e. Integrating new development with heritage assets - development 

expected to conserve and avoid harm, also to take opportunities to enhance 
or better reveal the significance of heritage assets and their settings. 
Development must respect local character and context and seek to enhance 
the character of an area where possible. 

 
 
15.3.9 Policy H4 Maximising the supply of Affordable Housing 
Policy H2 Quantity of Housing provided as a consequence of the commercial 
floorspace uplift - FAILS to comply 
 
15.3.10 Policy H10 Housing with Shared Facilities - protection for HMO accommodation - 
FAILS to comply 
 
15.3.11 Policy A2 New Public Open Space in areas where there is a clear deficiency, 
including in the Central Area, is to be provided - FAILS to comply 

15.3.12 Policy T4 Sustainable Movement of Goods and Materials – arrangements for 
accommodating goods vehicles on site are inadequate; off-street collection areas for waste – 
FAILS to comply 
 

15.3.13 Camden’s Design Planning Guidance, 6 Landscape Design and Trees – 
preservation of existing trees and hedges - FAILS to comply 

15.3.14 Camden Amenity, Supplementary Planning Guidance: Policy 2, Policy 3, 
Policy 6, para 6.13 – Distance between buildings; overlooking privacy and outlook; daylight 
and sunlight; noise and vibration - FAILS to comply 

15.3.15 Building Research Establishment (BRE) Recommended Good Practice - 
Daylight and Sunlight in buildings; open amenity spaces should be able to enjoy: “a 
minimum of 2 hours of full sunlight over 50% of their area on 21st March - FAILS to comply 

15.3.16 Camden Statement of Community Involvement Para 3.10 – expects a suitable 
consultation process - FAILS to comply 
 
Further Planning considerations 
London Borough of Camden Draft Site Allocations Plan (2020 )- Opportunity Site 
HGC3. The consultation process has revealed an overwhelmingly negative response to the 
proposal that a taller building is acceptable, that Selkirk House should be demolished rather 
than retrofitted in accordance with the Council’s sustainability Policies and that a cut through 
from West Central Street to High Holborn is beneficial.  The developers are using this draft 



as justification for their development whereas the results of the consultation should guide 
what the Council does. To date Camden have failed to report the results of the consultation 
formally to the planning committee. 
Historic England - Conserving Georgian and Victorian Terraced Houses: A guide to 
managing change July 2020. This is a supplementary planning document therefore a 
planning consideration. 
Historic England published this document, "to help local authorities and others implementing 
historic environment legislation and policy.” It states "If there are plans to change the plan 
form, issues to consider include, but are not exclusive to, the following eleven items….” (see 
page 13). The proposals to the listed buildings 10,11 and 12 Museum fail to comply with 
all eleven points.  
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Dotted red line indicates the outline
of the proposed office tower block
that will be 27m higher and very
significantly fatter and bulkier than
the existing Selkirk House building.

24m

Dotted red line indicates the outline
of the proposed office tower block
that will be 24m higher and very
significantly fatter and bulkier than
the existing Selkirk House building.
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27

The existing Mail Rail at Farringdon which could be
extended to Museum Street with its own entrance  
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
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